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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF MINNESOTA 

 
HUTCHINSON TECHNOLOGY INC., 
 

Plaintiff, 
v. 
 

NITTO DENKO CORPORATION and 
NITTO, INC.,  
 

Defendant[s]. 
 

Civil Action No. __________  
 
JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 

 
COMPLAINT FOR PATENT INFRINGEMENT 

Plaintiff Hutchinson Technology Inc. (“HTI”), by its attorneys, as and for its Complaint 

for Patent Infringement against Defendants Nitto Denko Corporation (“Nitto Denko”) and Nitto, 

Inc., (“Nitto USA”), collectively hereinafter referred to as “Nitto,” alleges as follows:  

THE PARTIES 

1. HTI is a Minnesota corporation with its principal place of business at 40 West 

Highland Park Dr. NE, Hutchinson, Minnesota.  

2. Upon information and belief, Nitto Denko is a Japanese corporation with its 

principle place of business located on the 33rd floor, Grand Front Osaka, 4-20, Ofuka-cho, Kita-

ku, Osaka 530-0011, Japan, and owns and controls Nitto, by and through which it offers for sale 

and sells products in the United States, and maintains facilities to accomplish the foregoing in 

several States including the State of Minnesota, including the products which are the subject of 

this Action. 

3. Upon information and belief, Nitto USA is a Delaware corporation registered to do 

business in the State of Minnesota with a place of business at 2626 E 82nd St., Bloomington, MN 

55425, and operates as Nitto Denko’s wholly-owned and controlled manufacturing and sales 
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representative subsidiary in the United States with respect to the products which are the subject of 

this Action. 

NATURE AND BASIS OF ACTION 

4. This is an action for infringement of ten valid United States patents, each relating 

to suspension assemblies used within hard disk drives (“HDD”) and components of the suspension 

assemblies, known as “flexures.” Suspension assemblies are used within HDDs that read and write 

data to/from disks.  Nitto Denko manufactures and offers to sell and sells, on its own and through 

Nitto USA in the United States, products which infringe HTI’s valid patents. These products have 

been manufactured, offered for sale and sold by Defendants world-wide, within the United States, 

and in and to the State of Minnesota, to United States-based customers and end-users. Further, 

Nitto induces third parties to infringe HTI’s valid patents and contributes to such infringement.  

5. HTI therefore brings this Action under the patent laws of the United States, to 

recover damages and to obtain a declaratory judgment of infringement and an injunction against 

further sales of all infringing products in perpetuity, together with other relief as provided by law, 

including attorneys’ fees.   

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

6. This Action arises under the patent laws of the United States, Title 35 of the United 

States Code. Accordingly, this Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of this action under 

28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1338. 

7. This Court has personal jurisdiction over the Nitto entities under the United States 

Constitution, the State Laws of Minnesota including Minnesota’s long-arm statute (MINN. STAT. 

§ 543.19), and/or the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, including Fed R. Civ. P. 4(k)(2). Nitto 

Denko has, in person and/or through its agent Nitto USA, transacted business in Minnesota and 
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conducted business continuously and systematically in the United States and in and into the State 

of Minnesota, including soliciting and/or transacting business with HTI, both by itself and by and 

through its wholly owned subsidiary and sales and marketing arm, Nitto USA. Nitto USA has 

continuously and systematically solicited and/or transacted business throughout the United States, 

through sales to HTI and other United States-based customers.  Both Defendants’ continuous and 

systematic conduct in placing infringing products into the stream of commerce in the United States 

specifically includes acts of patent infringement with purpose and effect within this judicial district 

and throughout the United States.  

8. Nitto Denko controls Nitto USA and has a symbiotic relationship with Nitto USA, 

whose activities are supervised and directed by Nitto Denko employees all reporting to Nitto 

Denko executives in Japan.  

9. The activities referenced throughout this paragraph include, but are not limited to, 

those activities accused in this Complaint of patent infringement, as explained further below.  Both 

Defendants have therefore transacted business in Minnesota, committed acts in Minnesota causing 

injury to HTI in Minnesota, and committed acts outside of Minnesota causing injury to HTI in 

Minnesota, including the acts of infringement set forth more fully below.  HTI is a Minnesota 

corporation and Minnesota has a substantial interest in providing a forum for HTI’s claims.  The 

burden, if any, in requiring Defendants to defend in Minnesota comports with notions of fair play 

and substantial justice.   

10. Venue in this Court is proper under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(d), because Nitto Denko is 

an alien, and 28 U.S.C. §1400, because the infringing acts in this Action occurred in Minnesota 

and because Nitto USA has an established place of business within this District. 
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HTI’S PATENTS 

11. HTI asserts ten patents in this Complaint for patent infringement: United States 

Patent No. 6,714,385, United States Patent No. 6,965,499, United States Patent No. 5,959,807, 

United States Patent No. 5,883,758, United States Patent No. 8,169,746, United States Patent No. 

7,342,750, United States Patent No. 7,532,438, United States Patent No. 6,295,183, United States 

Patent No. 7,781,679, and United States Patent No. 7,468,866. These ten patents are collectively 

referred to as the “HTI Patents” in this Complaint. 

United States Patent No. 6,714,385 

12. On March 30, 2004, United States Patent No. 6,714,385 (“the ‘385 Patent”) was 

duly and legally issued.  The ‘385 Patent is titled “Apparatus And Method Of Controlling Common 

Mode Impedance In A Disk Drive Head Suspension.” A true and correct copy of the ‘385 Patent 

is attached hereto as Exhibit A. 

13. The ‘385 Patent is currently in full force and effect. 

14. HTI is the owner of the ‘385 Patent by virtue of assignments that have been duly 

and properly recorded with the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office on or about April 16, 2001. 

United States Patent No. 6,965,499 

15. On November 15, 2005, United States Patent No. 6,965,499 (“the ‘499 Patent”) 

was duly and legally issued.  The ‘499 Patent is titled “Head Suspension Configured For Improved 

Thermal Performance During Solder Ball Bonding Of Slider.” A true and correct copy of the ‘499 

Patent is attached hereto as Exhibit B. 

16. The ‘499 Patent is currently in full force and effect. 

17. HTI is the owner of the ‘499 Patent by virtue of assignments that have been duly 

and properly recorded with the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office on or about April 23, 2003. 
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United States Patent No. 5,959,807 

18. On September 28, 1999, United States Patent No. 5,959,807 (“the ‘807 Patent”) 

was duly and legally issued.  The ‘807 Patent is titled “Head Suspension With Motion Restraining 

Tethers.”  A true and correct copy of the ‘807 Patent is attached hereto as Exhibit C. 

19. The ‘807 Patent is currently in full force and effect. 

20. HTI is the owner of the ‘807 Patent by virtue of assignments that have been duly 

and properly recorded with the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office on or about June 24, 1997. 

United States Patent No. 5,883,758 

21. On March 16, 1999, United States Patent No. 5,883,758 (“the ‘758 Patent”) was 

duly and legally issued.  The ‘758 Patent is titled “Lead Structure With Stainless Steel Base For 

Attachment To A Suspension.” A true and correct copy of the ‘758 Patent is attached hereto as 

Exhibit D. 

22. The ‘758 Patent is currently in full force and effect. 

23. HTI is the owner of the ‘758 Patent by virtue of assignments that have been duly 

and properly recorded with the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office on or about March, 2, 1998. 

United States Patent No. 8,169,746 

24. On May 1, 2012, United States Patent No. 8,169,746 (“the ‘746 Patent”) was duly 

and legally issued.  The ‘746 Patent is titled “Integrated Lead Suspension With Multiple Trace 

Configurations.” A true and correct copy of the ‘746 Patent is attached hereto as Exhibit E. 

25. The ‘746 Patent is currently in full force and effect. 

26. HTI is the owner of the ‘746 Patent by virtue of assignments that have been duly 

and properly recorded with the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office on or about April 8, 2008. 

United States Patent No. 7,342,750 
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27. On March 11, 2008, United States Patent No. 7,342,750 (“the ‘750 Patent”) was 

duly and legally issued.  The ‘750 Patent is titled “Method For Providing Electrical Crossover In 

A Laminated Structure.” A true and correct copy of the ‘750 Patent is attached hereto as Exhibit 

F. 

28. The ‘750 Patent is currently in full force and effect. 

29. HTI is the owner of the ‘750 Patent by virtue of an assignment that has been duly 

and properly recorded with the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office on or about March 6, 2017.   

United States Patent No. 7,532,438 

30. On May 12, 2009, United States Patent No. 7,532,438 (“the ‘438 Patent”) was duly 

and legally issued.  The ‘438 Patent is titled “Wireless Flexures With Curved Trace Geometry 

Against Pitch and Roll Adjustment Springback.” A true and correct copy of the ‘438 Patent is 

attached hereto as Exhibit G. 

31. The ‘438 Patent is currently in full force and effect. 

32. HTI is the owner of the ‘438 Patent by virtue of an assignment that has been duly 

and properly recorded with the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office on or about March 28, 2017.   

United States Patent No. 6,295,183 

33. On September 25, 2001, United States Patent No. 6,295,183 (“the ‘183 Patent”) 

was duly and legally issued.  The ‘183 Patent is entitled “Wireless Disk Drive Suspension With 

Optimized Mechanical and Electrical Properties.” A true and correct copy of the ‘183 Patent is 

attached hereto as Exhibit H. 

34. The ‘183 Patent is currently in full force and effect. 

35. HTI is the owner of the ‘183 Patent by virtue of an assignment that has been duly 

and properly recorded with the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office on or about March 28, 2017. 
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United States Patent No. 7,781,679 

36. On August 24, 2010, United States Patent No. 7,781,679 (“the ‘679 Patent”), was 

duly and legally issued.  The ‘679 Patent is titled “Disk Drive Suspension Via Formation Using A 

Tie Layer And Product.” A true and correct copy of the ‘679 Patent is attached hereto as Exhibit 

I.  

37. The ‘679 Patent is currently in full force and effect. 

38. HTI is the owner of the ‘679 Patent by virtue of an assignment that has been duly 

and properly recorded with the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office on or about March 28, 2017.  

 
United States Patent No. 7,468,866 

 
39. On December 23, 2008, U.S. Patent No. 7,468,866 (“the ‘866 Patent”), was duly 

and legally issued.  The ‘866 Patent is titled “Flexible Printed Circuit For head Gimbal Assembly.”  

A true and correct copy of the ‘866 Patent is attached hereto as Exhibit J. 

40. The ‘866 Patent is currently in full force and effect. 

41. HTI is the owner of the ‘866 Patent by virtue of an assignment that has been duly 

and properly recorded with the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office on or about March 6, 2017.   

 

NITTO’S INFRINGING ACTIVITIES 

Direct Infringement of the HTI Patents by Nitto 

42. Upon information and belief, Nitto has and continues to develop, manufacture, 

make, sell, offer to sell, and/or use flexures that infringe the HTI Patents at its manufacturing 

facilities. 

43. Upon information and belief, Nitto has in the past and continues to import, sell 

and/or offer to sell flexures in the United States that infringe the HTI Patents.  For example, in the 
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past, Nitto directly imported, offered to sell, and sold flexures into the United Stated to HTI prior 

to HTI receiving assignment of some of the asserted patents. Further, Nitto directly imports, offers 

to sell, and/or sells flexures to HDD manufacturers and HDD component suppliers in the United 

States.   

44. Upon information and belief, Nitto employees and/or representatives regularly 

travel to the United States, including Minnesota, to meet with HDD manufacturers and HDD 

component suppliers to discuss Nitto flexures. 

45. Upon information and belief, Nitto engages in pricing negotiations for Nitto 

flexures with HDD manufacturers during meetings in the United States and Minnesota. Upon 

information and belief, these pricing negotiations occur on at least a quarterly basis. 

46. Upon information and belief, in conjunction with Nitto’s pricing negotiations with 

HDD manufacturers, Nitto enters into contracts and/or agreements in the United States and 

Minnesota with HDD manufacturers to sell specific quantities of flexures to suspension assembly 

manufacturers at an agreed-upon price. 

Nitto’s Indirect Infringement of the HTI Patents 

Nitto’s Knowledge of the HTI Patents and Third Parties’ Infringements Thereof 

47. HTI was first-in-the-field in developing flexure technology and was and is a leader 

in the industry since the 1970’s.  Nitto followed HTI into the field beginning in 1998.  Now, HTI 

and Nitto are the only two flexure suppliers of significance world-wide.  According to Nitto, Nitto 

has approximately an 80% share of the flexure market while HTI has about a 15% share of the 

flexure market.   

48. HTI’s flexures are well-known, prominently advertised on HTI’s website, and HTI 

Patents were frequently referenced in the flexure/HDD industry and were widely and are publicly 
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known.  Because the flexure industry comprises only two primary competitors, Nitto is highly 

aware of HTI’s actions. Upon information and belief, Nitto is aware of and reviews HTI’s patents 

relating to flexures. Therefore, based on industry knowledge and the effective duopoly in the 

flexure market, Nitto had pre-suit knowledge of the HTI Patents and what actions would constitute 

infringement of those patents. 

49. Upon information and belief, Nitto sells infringing flexures to suspension assembly 

manufacturers at an agreed-upon price with the understanding and expectation that its flexures will 

be incorporated in suspension assemblies, which are then incorporated in HDDs that are imported, 

made, used, sold, and/or offered for sale in the United States, including Minnesota. Specifically, 

domestically based corporations including Western Digital Corporation and Seagate Technology 

LLC, which is located in Minnesota, are solicited to purchase and do purchase infringing flexures 

to incorporate into their products, and actively work with flexure manufacturers—including 

Nitto—on design and engineering issues. Upon information and belief, Nitto shares technical 

information regarding its flexures with HDD manufacturers and HDD component suppliers during 

meetings in the United States and Minnesota. 

50. HDD manufacturers that purchase Nitto’s infringing flexures import, make, use, 

sell, and/or offer to sell HDDs in the United States that incorporate Nitto’s infringing flexures.  

Further, the HDD manufacturers’ customers (e.g., distributors, HDD end-consumers) use, sell, 

and/or offer to sell HDDs incorporating Nitto’s infringing flexures in the United States. 

51. At a minimum, pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 287(a), the filing of this action on June 12, 

2017 constitutes notice to Nitto of the patents-in-suit and of Nitto’s manner of infringement 

thereof. 
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Encouragement and Specific Intent to Induce Infringement 

52. Despite having actual knowledge of the HTI Patents, Nitto has continued to sell its 

infringing flexures to HDD manufacturers knowing that such flexures directly infringe the HTI 

patents in the United States. 

53. Nitto actively induces direct infringement by HDD manufacturers and their 

customers in the United States in a number of ways, including without limitation the following 

acts:  

(i) upon information and belief, Nitto has marketed its flexures specifically to third 

parties such as suspension assembly manufacturers and HDD manufacturers.  

Nitto promotes its flexures on its website, touting its flexures’ features.  See 

http://www.nitto.com/jp/en/products/group/flexible/004/. 

(ii)  upon information and belief, Nitto instructs its customers and potential customers 

about Nitto flexures and how to use Nitto flexures, including infringing uses such 

as incorporating Nitto flexures into suspension assemblies for use in HDDs that 

Nitto knows will be sold and used in the United States; 

(iii)  despite Nitto’s knowledge of the HTI Patents, Nitto has and continues to sell 

and/or offer to sell flexures to its customers, including HDD component 

manufacturers and/or HDD manufacturers, which infringe one or more claims of 

the HTI patents, knowing that its customers incorporate the flexures in HDDs that 

are imported, used, sold, and/or offered for sale in the United States; and 

(iv)  upon information and belief, Nitto negotiates with HDD manufacturers in the 

United States and agrees to sell specific quantities of flexures at a specific price to 

suspension assembly manufacturers.  Upon information and belief, Nitto enters 
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into these agreements with the understanding, expectation, and intent that HDD 

manufacturers will purchase suspension assemblies incorporating Nitto flexures 

and subsequently import, use, sell, and/or offer to sell HDDs incorporating those 

suspension assemblies in the United States. 

54. Nitto’s marketing efforts, sales, and business relationships all evidence its intent to 

induce third parties to infringe one or more claims of the HTI Patents.  Nitto has and continues to 

engage in these acts with the actual intent to cause the acts which it knew or should have known 

would induce actual infringement by third parties. 

No Substantial Non-Infringing Uses 

55. Nitto designs and manufactures each of its flexures to be incorporated into a 

specific suspension assembly, which in turn are intended to be incorporated into a specific HDD. 

56. Nitto has imported, sold, and/or offered to sell flexures in the United States 

knowing the same to be especially made or especially adapted for use in its customers’ suspension 

assemblies and/or HDDs, and not a staple article or commodity of commerce suitable for 

substantial non-infringing use. 

57. As examples of Nitto’s direct and indirect infringement, attached as Exhibit K are 

preliminary and exemplary claim charts detailing infringement of certain claims of the HTI Patents 

as detailed in greater specificity in the counts below. These claim charts are not intended to be 

limiting in any way on HTI’s right to modify these and any other claim charts or allege other 

activities of Nitto infringe the HTI Patents. Exhibit K is hereby incorporated by reference in its 

entirety. Each claim element in Exhibit K that is mapped to Nitto shall be considered an allegation 

within the meaning of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure and therefore a response to each 
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allegation is required. HTI will consider a responsive element-by-element claim chart to be 

sufficient.  

COUNT ONE 
NITTO’S INFRINGEMENT OF THE ‘385 PATENT 

58. HTI repeats and realleges the allegations of Paragraphs 1-57 above as if fully set 

forth herein. 

59. On March 30, 2004, United States Patent No. 6,714,385 was duly and legally 

issued.  The ‘385 Patent is titled “Apparatus And Method Of Controlling Common Mode 

Impedance In A Disk Drive Head Suspension” and discloses an apparatus and method of adjusting 

the common mode impedance while enabling maintenance of the differential mode impedance of 

a pair of traces located with respect to a ground plane formed by a load beam or trace assembly of 

a HDD.  See Exhibit A. 

60. Upon information and belief, Nitto has manufactured, made, marketed, sold, 

imported, and/or used flexures comprising all of the elements and limitations of one or more claims 

of the ‘385 Patent.  Nitto has directly infringed one or more claims of the ‘385 Patent and/or has 

induced the infringement of or contributed to the infringement of one or more claims of the ‘385 

Patent by others. 

61. Nitto has infringed and currently directly infringes the ‘385 Patent, literally or under 

the doctrine of equivalents, including at least claim 3. Upon information and belief, Nitto’s 

infringing activities in the United States include importing, using, selling, and/or offering to sell 

flexures without permission or license from HTI. Such infringing activities violate 35 U.S.C. § 

271(a). 

62. On information and belief, Nitto has been aware of or willfully blind to (i) the 

existence of the ‘385 Patent, and (ii) the manner of Nitto’s infringement thereof.  
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63. Further, the ‘385 Patent is well-known in the HDD industry as it has been cited by 

at least 52 issued U.S. Patents. These citations were on patents assigned to many of the participants 

in the HDD industry, including: Hitachi Global Storage Technologies Netherlands B.V., Western 

Digital Technologies, Inc., Seagate Technology LLC, Magnecomp Corporation, NHK Spring Co. 

Ltd., and Fujitsu Limited.  

64. On information and belief, Nitto’s infringement of the ‘385 Patent is willful and 

deliberate in view of (i) Nitto’s prior knowledge of the ‘385 Patent; and (ii) despite that knowledge, 

Nitto has and continues to import, make, use, sell, and/or offer to sell flexures that infringe the 

‘385 Patent. 

65. Nitto also has and continues to actively induce third parties to directly infringe the 

‘385 Patent, literally or under the doctrine of equivalents, including at least claim 3. Such 

infringing activities violate 35 U.S.C. § 271(b). 

66. Upon information and belief, Nitto, aware of the ’385 Patent, encourages the 

infringing use of its flexures by third parties, such as Seagate Technology LLC, by marketing its 

flexures for an infringing use, instructing its customers on how to use its products, and negotiating 

sales contracts covers its infringing products.  

67. Nitto has and continues to contribute to third parties’ direct infringement of the 

‘385 Patent, literally or under the doctrine of equivalents, including at least claim 3. Such 

infringing activities violate 35 U.S.C. § 271(c). 

68. Nitto has and continues to offer to sell and/or sell flexures knowing the same to be 

especially made or especially adapted for use in an infringement of the ‘385 Patent, and not a staple 

article or commodity of commerce suitable for substantial non-infringing use. 
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69. Nitto flexures constitute a component of a patented machine, manufacture, 

combination or composition, or a material or apparatus for use in practicing a patented process, 

constituting a material part of the invention (namely, a head suspension for a HDD), with respect 

to at least claim 3 of the ‘385 Patent. 

70. In early 2017, HTI purchased HDDs manufactured by Seagate Technology LLC 

available for sale in the United States containing a Nitto flexure, such as the HDD shown in Exhibit 

K at 3-4, comprising all of the elements and limitations of one or more claims of the ‘385 Patent. 

71. HTI is entitled to recover damages as a result of Nitto’s infringing conduct, 

including lost profits and in no event less than a reasonable royalty, together with interest and costs 

as fixed by this Court pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 284.  HTI is also entitled to treble damages and 

recovery of attorneys’ fees as a result of Nitto’s willful infringement of the ‘385 Patent. 

72. Upon information and belief, Nitto will continue its infringement of one or more 

claims of the ‘385 Patent unless enjoined by the Court.  Nitto’s infringing conduct thus causes HTI 

irreparable harm and will continue to cause such harm without the issuance of an injunction. 

COUNT TWO 
NITTO’S INFRINGEMENT OF THE ‘499 PATENT 

73. HTI repeats and realleges the allegations of Paragraphs1-72 above as if fully set 

forth herein. 

74. On November 15, 2005, United States Patent No. 6,965,499 was duly and legally 

issued.  The ‘499 Patent is titled “Head Suspension Configured For Improved Thermal 

Performance During Solder Ball Bonding Of Slider” and discloses a head suspension or head 

suspension component configured for solder ball bonding of a head slider to electrical traces on 

the head suspension or head suspension component. See Exhibit B. 
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75. Upon information and belief, Nitto has manufactured, made, marketed, sold, 

imported, and/or used flexures comprising all of the elements and limitations of one or more claims 

of the ‘499 Patent.   Nitto has directly infringed one or more claims of the ‘499 Patent and/or has 

induced the infringement of or contributed to the infringement of one or more claims of the ‘499 

Patent by others. 

76. Nitto has infringed and currently directly infringes the ‘499 Patent, literally or under 

the doctrine of equivalents, including at least claim 12.  Upon information and belief, Nitto’s 

infringing activities in the United States include importing, using, selling, and/or offering to sell 

flexures without permission or license from HTI.  Such infringing activities violate 35 U.S.C. § 

271(a). 

77. Upon information and belief, Nitto has been aware of or willfully blind to (i) the 

existence of the ‘499 Patent, and (ii) the manner of Nitto’s infringement thereof through 

prosecution of its own patents.  For example, in June 2015, the ‘499 Patent was cited as prior art 

in an Office Action during prosecution of U.S. Patent No. 9,236,070 assigned to Nitto. In August 

2014, Nitto cited the ‘499 Patent as prior art in an Information Disclosure Statement during 

prosecution of U.S. Patent No. 8,858,810 (“the Nitto ’810 Patent”).  The ‘499 Patent was also cited 

as prior art in July 2014 during prosecution of the Japanese counterpart to the Nitto ’810 Patent, 

Japanese Patent Application No. 2010-116595, assigned to Nitto (which issued as Japanese Patent 

No. JP 2011-243267). 

78. Further, the ‘499 Patent is well-known in the HDD industry as it has been cited by 

at least 22 issued U.S. Patents.  These citations were on patents assigned to many participants in 

the HDD field, including: Hitachi Global Storage Technologies Netherlands B.V., Western Digital 
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Technologies, Inc., Magnecomp Corporation, Seagate Technology LLC, NHK Spring Co. Ltd., 

and Fujitsu Limited.  

79. On information and belief, Nitto’s infringement of the ‘499 Patent is willful and 

deliberate in view of (i) Nitto’s prior knowledge of the ‘499 Patent since at least July 2014; and 

(ii) despite that knowledge, Nitto has and continues to import, make, use, sell, and/or offer to sell 

flexures that infringe the ‘499 Patent. 

80. Nitto also has and continues to actively induce third parties to directly infringe the 

‘499 Patent, literally or under the doctrine of equivalents, including at least claim 12.  Such 

infringing activities violate 35 U.S.C. § 271(b). 

81. Upon information and belief, Nitto, aware of the ’499 Patent, encourages the 

infringing use of its flexures by third parties, such as Hitachi Global Storage Technologies, by 

marketing its flexures for an infringing use, instructing its customers on how to use its products, 

and negotiating sales contracts covers its infringing products.  

82. Additionally, Nitto has and continues to contribute to third parties’ direct 

infringement of the ’499 Patent, literally or under the doctrine of equivalents, including at least 

claim 12. Such infringement activities violate 35 U.S.C. § 271(c). 

83. Nitto has and continues to offer to sell and/or sell flexures knowing the same to be 

especially made or especially adapted for use in an infringement of the ‘499 Patent, and not a staple 

article or commodity of commerce suitable for substantial non-infringing use. 

84. Nitto flexures constitute a component of a patented machine, manufacture, 

combination or composition, or a material or apparatus for use in practicing a patented process, 

constituting a material part of the invention (namely, a head suspension for a HDD), with respect 

to at least claims 12 of the ‘499 Patent. 
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85. In early 2017, HTI purchased HDDs manufactured by Hitachi Global Storage 

Technologies available for sale in the United States containing a Nitto flexure, such as the HDD 

shown in Exhibit K at 5-6, comprising all of the elements and limitations of one or more claims of 

the ‘499 Patent. 

86. HTI is entitled to recover damages as a result of Nitto’s infringing conduct, 

including lost profits and in no event less than a reasonable royalty, together with interest and costs 

as fixed by this Court pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 284.  HTI is also entitled to treble damages and 

recovery of attorneys’ fees as a result of Nitto’s willful infringement of the ‘499 Patent. 

87. Upon information and belief, Nitto will continue its infringement of one or more 

claims of the ‘499 Patent unless enjoined by the Court.  Nitto’s infringing conduct thus causes HTI 

irreparable harm and will continue to cause such harm without the issuance of an injunction. 

 

COUNT THREE 
NITTO’S INFRINGEMENT OF THE ‘807 PATENT 

88. HTI repeats and realleges the allegations of Paragraphs 1-87 above as if fully set 

forth herein. 

89. On September 28, 1999, United States Patent No. 5,959,807 was duly and legally 

issued.  The ‘807 Patent is titled “Head Suspension With Motion Restraining Tethers” and 

discloses a head suspension comprised of a read/write transducer head carrying region supported 

from a support region of the head suspension.  See Exhibit C. 

90. Upon information and belief, Nitto has manufactured, made, marketed, sold, 

imported, and/or used flexures for use in suspension assemblies comprising all of the elements and 

limitations of one or more claims of the ‘807 Patent.  Nitto has induced the infringement of or 

contributed to the infringement of one or more claims of the ‘385 Patent by others. 
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91. On information and belief, Nitto has been aware of or willfully blind to (i) the 

existence of the ‘807 Patent, and (ii) the manner of Nitto’s infringement thereof. 

92. Further, the ‘807 Patent is well-known in the HDD industry as it has been cited by 

at least 34 issued U.S. Patents.  These citations were on patents assigned to many of the participants 

in the HDD industry, including: Hitachi Global Storage Technologies, Western Digital 

Technologies, Inc., Seagate Technology LLC, Magnecomp Corporation, NHK Spring Co. Ltd., 

Fujitsu Limited, and Dai Nippon Printing Co., Ltd. 

93. On information and belief, Nitto’s infringement of the ‘807 Patent is willful and 

deliberate in view of (i) Nitto’s prior knowledge of the ‘807 Patent; and (ii) despite that knowledge, 

Nitto has and continues to make, use, offer for sale, sell, and/or import flexures for use in 

suspension assemblies that infringe the ‘807 Patent. 

94. Nitto also has and continues to actively induce third parties to directly infringe the 

‘807 Patent, literally or under the doctrine of equivalents, including at least claim 12. Such 

infringing activities violate 35 U.S.C. § 271(b). 

95. Upon information and belief, Nitto, aware of the ’385 Patent, encourages the 

infringing use of its flexures by third parties, such as Hitachi Global Storage Technologies, by 

marketing its flexures for an infringing use, instructing its customers on how to use its products, 

and negotiating sales contracts covers its infringing products. 

96. Nitto has and continues to contribute to third parties’ direct infringement of the 

‘807 Patent, literally or under the doctrine of equivalents, including at least claim 12.  Such 

infringing activities violate 35 U.S.C. § 271(c). 
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97. Nitto has and continues to offer to sell and/or sell flexures knowing the same to be 

especially made or especially adapted for use in an infringement of the ‘807 Patent, and not a staple 

article or commodity of commerce suitable for substantial non-infringing use. 

98. Nitto flexures constitute a component of a patented machine, manufacture, 

combination or composition, or a material or apparatus for use in practicing a patented process, 

constituting a material part of the invention (namely, a head suspension for a HDD), with respect 

to at least claim 12 of the ‘807 Patent. 

99. In early 2017, HTI purchased HDDs manufactured by Hitachi Global Storage 

Technologies available for sale in the United States containing a suspension assembly 

incorporating a Nitto flexure, such as the HDD shown in Exhibit K at 7-8, comprising all of the 

elements and limitations of one or more claims of the ‘807 Patent. 

100. HTI is entitled to recover damages as a result of Nitto’s infringing conduct, 

including lost profits and in no event less than a reasonable royalty, together with interest and costs 

as fixed by this Court pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 284.  HTI is also entitled to treble damages and 

recovery of attorneys’ fees as a result of Nitto’s willful infringement of the ‘807 Patent. 

101. Upon information and belief, Nitto will continue its infringement of one or more 

claims of the ‘807 Patent unless enjoined by the Court.  Nitto’s infringing conduct thus causes HTI 

irreparable harm and will continue to cause such harm without the issuance of an injunction. 

 
COUNT FOUR 

NITTO’S INFRINGEMENT OF THE ‘758 PATENT 

102. HTI repeats and realleges the allegations of Paragraphs 1-101 above as if fully set 

forth herein. 
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103. On March 16, 1999, United States Patent No. 5,883,758 was duly and legally 

issued.  The ‘758 Patent is titled “Lead Structure With Stainless Steel Base For Attachment To A 

Suspension” and discloses a lead structure adapted for attachment to a metal disk drive head 

suspension having a mounting region on a proximal end, a head-receiving flexure on a distal end, 

a rigid region and a spring region between the rigid region and the mounting region.  See Exhibit 

D. 

104. Upon information and belief, Nitto has manufactured, made, marketed, sold, 

imported, and/or used flexures comprising all of the elements and limitations of one or more claims 

of the ‘758 Patent. Nitto has directly infringed one or more claims of the ‘758 Patent; and/or has 

induced the infringement of or contributed to the infringement of one or more claims of the ‘758 

Patent by others. 

105. Nitto has infringed and currently directly infringes the ‘758 Patent, literally or under 

the doctrine of equivalents, including at least claim 1. Nitto’s infringing activities in the United 

States include importing, using, selling, and/or offering to sell flexures without permission or 

license from HTI.  Such infringing activities violate 35 U.S.C. § 271(a). 

106. On information and belief, Nitto has been aware of or willfully blind to (i) the 

existence of the ‘758 Patent, and (ii) the manner of its infringement thereof. 

107. Further, the ‘758 Patent is well-known in the HDD industry as it has been cited by 

at least 38 issued U.S. Patents.  These citations were on patents assigned to many of the participants 

in the HDD industry, including: Hitachi Global Storage Technologies, Western Digital 

Technologies, Inc., Magnecomp Corporation, NHK Spring Co. Ltd., Fujitsu Limited, and SAE 

Magnetics Ltd. 
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108. On information and belief, Nitto’s infringement of the ‘758 Patent is willful and 

deliberate in view of (i) Nitto’s prior knowledge of the ‘758 Patent; and (ii) despite that knowledge, 

Nitto has and continues to make, use, offer for sale, sell, and/or import flexures that infringe the 

‘758 Patent. 

109. Nitto also has and continues to actively induce third parties to directly infringe the 

‘758 Patent, literally or under the doctrine of equivalents, including at least claim 1.  Such 

infringing activities violate 35 U.S.C. § 271(b). 

110. Upon information and belief, Nitto, aware of the ’758 Patent, encourages the 

infringing use of its flexures by third parties, such as Toshiba, by marketing its flexures for an 

infringing use, instructing its customers on how to use its products, and negotiating sales contracts 

covers its infringing products. 

111. Nitto has and continues to contribute to third parties’ direct infringement of the 

‘758 Patent, literally or under the doctrine of equivalents, including at least claim 1. Such 

infringing activities violate 35 U.S.C. § 271(c). 

112. Nitto has and continues to offer to sell and/or sell flexures knowing the same to be 

especially made or especially adapted for use in an infringement of the ‘758 Patent, and not a staple 

article or commodity of commerce suitable for substantial non-infringing use. 

113. Nitto flexures constitute a component of a patented machine, manufacture, 

combination or composition, or a material or apparatus for use in practicing a patented process, 

constituting a material part of the invention (namely, a head suspension for a HDD), with respect 

to at least claim 1 of the ‘758 Patent. 
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114. In late 2016, HTI purchased HDDs manufactured by Toshiba available for sale in 

the United States containing a Nitto flexure, such as the HDD shown in Exhibit K at 9-10, 

comprising all of the elements and limitations of one or more claims of the ‘758 Patent. 

115. HTI is entitled to recover damages as a result of Nitto’s infringing conduct, 

including lost profits and in no event less than a reasonable royalty, together with interest and costs 

as fixed by this Court pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 284.  HTI is also entitled to treble damages and 

recovery of attorneys’ fees as a result of Nitto’s willful infringement of the ‘758 Patent. 

116. Upon information and belief, Nitto will continue its infringement of one or more 

claims of the ‘758 Patent unless enjoined by the Court.  Nitto’s infringing conduct thus causes HTI 

irreparable harm and will continue to cause such harm without the issuance of an injunction. 

 
COUNT FIVE 

NITTO’S INFRINGEMENT OF THE ‘746 PATENT 

117. HTI repeats and realleges the allegations of Paragraphs 1-116 above as if fully set 

forth herein. 

118. On May 1, 2012, United States Patent No. 8,169,746 was duly and legally issued.  

The ‘746 Patent is titled “Integrated Lead Suspension With Multiple Trace Configurations” and 

discloses an integrated lead head suspension flexure including a mounting region, a gimbal 

extending distally from the mounting region having bond pads, and a tail extending proximally 

from the mounting region having terminal pads.  See Exhibit E. 

119. Upon information and belief, Nitto has manufactured, made, marketed, sold, 

imported, and/or used flexures comprising all of the elements and limitations of one or more claims 

of the ‘746 Patent.  Nitto has directly infringed one or more claims of the ‘746 Patent; and/or has 
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induced the infringement of or contributed to the infringement of one or more claims of the ‘746 

Patent by others. 

120. Nitto has infringed and currently directly infringes the ‘746 Patent, literally or under 

the doctrine of equivalents, including at least claim 7.  Nitto’s infringing activities in the United 

States include importing, using, selling, and/or offering to sell flexures without permission or 

license from HTI.  Such infringing activities violate 35 U.S.C. § 271(a). 

121. On information and belief, Nitto has been aware of or willfully blind to (i) the 

existence of the ‘746 Patent, and (ii) the manner of its infringement thereof. 

122. Further, the ‘746 Patent is well-known in the HDD industry as it has been cited by 

at least 37 issued U.S. Patents.  These citations were on patents assigned to many of the participants 

in the HDD industry, including: Western Digital Technologies, Inc., Western Digital (Fremont) 

LLC, Seagate Technology LLC, and SAE Magnetics Ltd. 

123. On information and belief, Nitto’s infringement of the ‘746 Patent is willful and 

deliberate in view of (i) Nitto’s prior knowledge of the ‘746 Patent; and (ii) despite that knowledge, 

Nitto has and continues to make, use, offer for sale, sell, and/or import flexures that infringe the 

‘746 Patent. 

124. Nitto also has and continues to actively induce third parties to directly infringe the 

‘746 Patent, literally or under the doctrine of equivalents, including at least claim 7. Such 

infringing activities violate 35 U.S.C. § 271(b). 

125. Upon information and belief, Nitto, aware of the ’385 Patent, encourages the 

infringing use of its flexures by third parties, such as Hitachi Global Storage Technologies, by 

marketing its flexures for an infringing use, instructing its customers on how to use its products, 

and negotiating sales contracts covers its infringing products.  

CASE 0:17-cv-01992-SRN-LIB   Document 1   Filed 06/12/17   Page 23 of 39



24 
 

126. Nitto has and continues to contribute to third parties’ direct infringement of the 

‘746 Patent, literally or under the doctrine of equivalents, including at least claim 7. Such 

infringing activities violate 35 U.S.C. § 271(c). 

127. Nitto has and continues to offer to sell and/or sell flexures knowing the same to be 

especially made or especially adapted for use in an infringement of the ‘746 Patent, and not a staple 

article or commodity of commerce suitable for substantial non-infringing use. 

128. Nitto flexures constitute a component of a patented machine, manufacture, 

combination or composition, or a material or apparatus for use in practicing a patented process, 

constituting a material part of the invention (namely, a head suspension for a HDD), with respect 

to at least claim 7 of the ‘746 Patent. 

129. In late 2016, HTI purchased HDDs manufactured by Hitachi Global Storage 

Technologies available for sale in the United States containing a Nitto flexure, such as the HDD 

shown in Exhibit K at 11-12, comprising all of the elements and limitations of one or more claims 

of the ‘746 Patent. 

130. HTI is entitled to recover damages as a result of Nitto’s infringing conduct, 

including lost profits and in no event less than a reasonable royalty, together with interest and costs 

as fixed by this Court pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 284.  HTI is also entitled to treble damages and 

recovery of attorneys’ fees as a result of Nitto’s willful infringement of the ‘746 Patent. 

131. Upon information and belief, Nitto will continue its infringement of one or more 

claims of the ‘746 Patent unless enjoined by the Court.  Nitto’s infringing conduct thus causes HTI 

irreparable harm and will continue to cause such harm without the issuance of an injunction. 

 
COUNT SIX 

NITTO’S INFRINGEMENT OF THE ‘750 PATENT 
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132. HTI repeats and realleges the allegations of Paragraphs 1-131 above as if fully set 

forth herein. 

133. On March 11, 2008, United States Patent No. 7,342,750 was duly and legally 

issued.  The ‘750 Patent is titled “Method For Providing Electrical Crossover In A Laminated 

Structure” and discloses an externally wireless laminated suspension for a hard disk drive.  See 

Exhibit F. 

134. Upon information and belief, Nitto has manufactured, made, marketed, sold, 

imported, and/or used flexures comprising all of the elements and limitations of one or more claims 

of the ‘750 Patent.  Nitto has directly infringed one or more claims of the ‘750 Patent and/or has 

induced the infringement of or contributed to the infringement of one or more claims of the ‘750 

Patent by others. 

135. Nitto has infringed and currently directly infringes the ‘750 Patent, literally or under 

the doctrine of equivalents, including at least claim 1.  Upon information and belief, Nitto’s 

infringing activities in the United States include importing, using, selling, and/or offering to sell 

flexures without permission or license from HTI.  Such infringing activities violate 35 U.S.C. § 

271(a). 

136. On information and belief, Nitto has been aware of or willfully blind to (i) the 

existence of the ‘750 Patent, and (ii) the manner of its infringement thereof through prosecution of 

its own patents. The ‘750 Patent was originally published on December 22, 2005 as Publication 

No. US 2005/0280944 (“the ‘750 Patent Publication”).  In January 2010, the ‘750 Patent 

Publication was cited as prior art during prosecution Nitto’s European Application No. 0925276.5.  

Further, Nitto cited the ‘750 Patent Publication in an Information Disclosure Statement (i) in May 

2010 during prosecution of U.S. Patent No. 7,923,644 assigned to Nitto; (ii) in September 2012 
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during prosecution of U.S. App. No. 12/495,323 assigned to Nitto; (iii) in November 2013 during 

prosecution of U.S. Patent No. 9,029,708 assigned to Nitto; and (iv) in April 2014 during 

prosecution of U.S. Patent No. 9,159,343 assigned to Nitto.  Each of these citations to the ‘750 

Patent Publication were made after the ‘750 Patent had issued. 

137. Further, the ‘750 Patent is well-known in the HDD industry as it has been cited by 

at least 26 issued U.S. Patents.  These citations were on patents assigned to participants in the HDD 

industry, including: Magnecomp Corporation, Dai Nippon Printing Co., Ltd., and HTI. 

138. Nitto’s infringement of the ‘750 Patent is willful and deliberate in view of (i) Nitto’s 

prior knowledge of the ‘750 Patent; and (ii) despite that knowledge, Nitto has and continues to 

make, use, offer for sale, sell, and/or import flexures that infringe the ‘750 Patent. 

139. Nitto also has and continues to actively induce third parties to directly infringe the 

‘750 Patent, literally or under the doctrine of equivalents, including at least claim 1.  Such 

infringing activities violate 35 U.S.C. § 271(b). 

140. Upon information and belief, Nitto, aware of the ’385 Patent, encourages the 

infringing use of its flexures by third parties, such as Seagate Technology LLC, by marketing its 

flexures for an infringing use, instructing its customers on how to use its products, and negotiating 

sales contracts covers its infringing products.  

141. Nitto has and continues to contribute to third parties’ direct infringement of the 

‘750 Patent, literally or under the doctrine of equivalents, including at least claim 1. Such 

infringing activities violate 35 U.S.C. § 271(c). 

142. Nitto has and continues to offer to sell and/or sell flexures knowing the same to be 

especially made or especially adapted for use in an infringement of the ‘750 Patent, and not a staple 

article or commodity of commerce suitable for substantial non-infringing use. 
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143. Nitto flexures constitute a component of a patented machine, manufacture, 

combination or composition, or a material or apparatus for use in practicing a patented process, 

constituting a material part of the invention (namely, a head suspension for a HDD), with respect 

to at least claim 1 of the ‘750 Patent. 

144. In early 2017, HTI purchased HDDs manufactured by Seagate Technology LLC 

available for sale in the United States containing a Nitto flexure, such as the HDD shown in Exhibit 

K at 13-14, comprising all of the elements and limitations of one or more claims of the ‘750 Patent. 

145. HTI is entitled to recover damages as a result of Nitto’s infringing conduct, 

including lost profits and in no event less than a reasonable royalty, together with interest and costs 

as fixed by this Court pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 284.  HTI is also entitled to treble damages and 

recovery of attorneys’ fees as a result of Nitto’s willful infringement of the ‘750 Patent. 

146. Upon information and belief, Nitto will continue its infringement of one or more 

claims of the ‘750 Patent unless enjoined by the Court.  Nitto’s infringing conduct thus causes HTI 

irreparable harm and will continue to cause such harm without the issuance of an injunction. 

 
COUNT SEVEN 

NITTO’S INFRINGEMENT OF THE ‘438 PATENT 

147. HTI repeats and realleges the allegations of Paragraphs 1-146 above as if fully set 

forth herein. 

148. On May 12, 2009, United States Patent No. 7,532,438 was duly and legally issued.  

The ‘438 Patent is titled “Wireless Flexures With Curved Trace Geometry Against Pitch and Roll 

Adjustment Springback” and discloses a wireless disk drive suspension and method of 

manufacture in which curvilinear deflections of the plastic film and conductive traces relative to 

the flexure metal layer provide for containment of the strains accompanying pitch and roll 

CASE 0:17-cv-01992-SRN-LIB   Document 1   Filed 06/12/17   Page 27 of 39



28 
 

adjustment of the flexure and allow adjustment free of adjusting difficulties and spring back 

comprise of the adjustment. See Exhibit G. 

149. Upon information and belief, Nitto has manufactured, made, marketed, sold, 

imported, and/or used flexures for use in suspension assemblies comprising all of the elements and 

limitations of one or more claims of the ‘438 Patent.  Nitto has induced the infringement of or 

contributed to the infringement of one or more claims of the ‘438 Patent by others. 

150. On information and belief, Nitto has been aware of or willfully blind to (i) the 

existence of the ‘438 Patent, and (ii) the manner of Nitto’s infringement thereof through 

prosecution of its own patents.  The ‘438 Patent was cited as prior art by the USPTO during 

prosecution of U.S. Patent No. 9,159,343 assigned to Nitto.  

151. On information and belief, Nitto’s infringement of the ‘438 Patent is willful and 

deliberate in view of (i) Nitto’s prior knowledge of the ‘438 Patent; and (ii) despite that knowledge, 

Nitto has and continues to make, use, offer for sale, sell, and/or import flexures that infringe the 

‘438 Patent. 

152. Nitto has and continues to actively induce third parties to directly infringe the ‘438 

Patent, literally or under the doctrine of equivalents, including at least claim 5. Such infringing 

activities violate 35 U.S.C. § 271(b). 

153. Upon information and belief, Nitto, aware of the ’438 Patent, encourages the 

infringing use of its flexures by third parties, such as Toshiba, by marketing its flexures for an 

infringing use, instructing its customers on how to use its products, and negotiating sales contracts 

covers its infringing products. 
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154. Nitto has and continues to contribute to third parties’ direct infringement of the 

‘438 Patent, literally or under the doctrine of equivalents, including at least claim 5. Such 

infringing activities violate 35 U.S.C. § 271(c). 

155. Nitto has and continues to offer to sell and/or sell flexures knowing the same to be 

especially made or especially adapted for use in an infringement of the ‘438 Patent, and not a staple 

article or commodity of commerce suitable for substantial non-infringing use. 

156. Nitto flexures constitute a component of a patented machine, manufacture, 

combination or composition, or a material or apparatus for use in practicing a patented process, 

constituting a material part of the invention (namely, a disk drive suspension for a HDD), with 

respect to at least claim 5 of the ‘438 Patent. 

157. In early 2017, HTI purchased HDDs manufactured by Toshiba available for sale in 

the United States containing a Nitto flexure, such as the HDD shown in Exhibit K at 15-16, 

comprising all of the elements and limitations of one or more claims of the ‘438 Patent. 

158. HTI is entitled to recover damages as a result of Nitto’s infringing conduct, 

including lost profits and in no event less than a reasonable royalty, together with interest and costs 

as fixed by this Court pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 284.  HTI is also entitled to treble damages and 

recovery of attorneys’ fees as a result of Nitto’s willful infringement of the ‘438 Patent. 

159. Upon information and belief, Nitto will continue its infringement of one or more 

claims of the ‘438 Patent unless enjoined by the Court.  Nitto’s infringing conduct thus causes HTI 

irreparable harm and will continue to cause such harm without the issuance of an injunction. 

 
COUNT EIGHT 

NITTO’S INFRINGEMENT OF THE ‘183 PATENT 
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160. HTI repeats and realleges the allegations of Paragraphs 1-159 above as if fully set 

forth herein. 

161. On September 25, 2001, United States Patent No. 6,295,183 was duly and legally 

issued.  The ‘183 Patent is entitled “Wireless Disk Drive Suspension With Optimized Mechanical 

and Electrical Properties” and discloses removing a portion of the wireless conductor immediately 

opposite the suspension conductors only to obtain reduced capacitive coupling and thus better 

electrical properties without sacrifice of mechanical properties. See Exhibit H.  

162. Upon information and belief, Nitto has manufactured, made, marketed, sold, 

imported, and/or used flexures for use in suspension assemblies comprising all of the elements and 

limitations of one or more claims of the ‘183 Patent. Nitto has induced the infringement of or 

contributed to the infringement of one or more claims of the ‘183 Patent by others. 

163. On information and belief, Nitto has been aware of or willfully blind to (i) the 

existence of the ‘183 Patent, and (ii) the manner of Nitto’s infringement thereof through 

prosecution of its own patents. 

164. Nitto’s infringement of the ‘183 Patent is willful and deliberate in view of (i) Nitto’s 

prior knowledge of the ‘183 Patent; and (ii) despite that knowledge, Nitto has and continues to 

make, use, offer for sale, sell, and/or import flexures that infringe the ‘183 Patent. 

165. Nitto has and continues to actively induce third parties to directly infringe the ‘183 

Patent, literally or under the doctrine of equivalents, including at least claim 1. Such infringing 

activities violate 35 U.S.C. § 271(b). 

166. Upon information and belief, Nitto, aware of the ’385 Patent, encourages the 

infringing use of its flexures by third parties, such as Seagate Technology LLC, by marketing its 
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flexures for an infringing use, instructing its customers on how to use its products, and negotiating 

sales contracts covers its infringing products. 

167. Nitto has and continues to contribute to third parties’ direct infringement of the 

‘183 Patent, literally or under the doctrine of equivalents, including at least claim 1.  Such 

infringing activities violate 35 U.S.C. § 271(c).  

168. Nitto has and continues to offer to sell and/or sell flexures knowing the same to be 

especially made or especially adapted for use in an infringement of the ‘183 Patent, and not a staple 

article or commodity of commerce suitable for substantial non-infringing use. 

169. Nitto flexures constitute a component of a patented machine, manufacture, 

combination or composition, or a material or apparatus for use in practicing a patented process, 

constituting a material part of the invention (namely, a wireless disk drive suspension for a HDD), 

with respect to at least claim 1 of the ‘183 Patent. 

170. In early 2017, HTI purchased HDDs manufactured by Seagate Technology LLC 

available for sale in the United States containing a Nitto flexure, such as the HDD shown in Exhibit 

K at 17-18, comprising all of the elements and limitations of one or more claims of the ‘183 Patent. 

171. HTI is entitled to recover damages as a result of Nitto’s infringing conduct, 

including lost profits and in no event less than a reasonable royalty, together with interest and costs 

as fixed by this Court pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 284.  HTI is also entitled to treble damages and 

recovery of attorneys’ fees as a result of Nitto’s willful infringement of the ‘183 Patent. 

172. Upon information and belief, Nitto will continue its infringement of one or more 

claims of the ‘183 Patent unless enjoined by the Court.  Nitto’s infringing conduct thus causes HTI 

irreparable harm and will continue to cause such harm without the issuance of an injunction. 
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COUNT NINE 
NITTO’S INFRINGEMENT OF THE ‘679 PATENT 

173. HTI repeats and realleges the allegations of Paragraphs 1-172 above as if fully set 

forth herein. 

174. On August 24, 2010, United States Patent No. 7,781,679 (“the ‘679 Patent”), was 

duly and legally issued. The ‘679 Patent is titled “Disk Drive Suspension Via Formation Using A 

Tie Layer And Product” and discloses a disk drive suspension interconnect, and method therefor.  

See Exhibit I. 

175. Upon information and belief, Nitto has manufactured, made, marketed, sold, 

imported, and/or used flexures comprising all of the elements and limitations of one or more claims 

of the ‘679 Patent. Nitto has directly infringed one or more claims of the ‘679 Patent; and/or has 

induced the infringement of or contributed to the infringement of one or more claims of the ‘679 

Patent by others. 

176. Nitto has infringed and currently directly infringes the ‘679 Patent, literally or under 

the doctrine of equivalents, including at least claim 1.  Nitto’s infringing activities in the United 

States include importing, using, selling, and/or offering to sell flexures without permission or 

license from HTI.  Such infringing activities violate 35 U.S.C. § 271(a). 

177. On information and belief, Nitto has been aware of or willfully blind to the fact that 

(i) the existence of the ‘679 Patent, and (ii) the manner of its infringement thereof through the 

prosecution of its own patents.  In June 2015, the ‘679 Patent was cited by the USPTO as prior art 

during prosecution of U.S. Patent No. 9,236,070 assigned to Nitto. 

178. On information and belief, Nitto’s infringement of the ‘679 Patent is willful and 

deliberate in view of (i) Nitto’s prior knowledge of the ‘679 Patent; and (ii) despite that knowledge, 
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Nitto has and continues to make, use, offer for sale, sell, and/or import flexures for use in 

suspension assemblies that infringe the ‘679 Patent. 

179. Nitto also has and continues to actively induce third parties to directly infringe the 

‘679 Patent, literally or under the doctrine of equivalents, including at least claim 1.  Such 

infringing activities violate 35 U.S.C. § 271(b). 

180. Upon information and belief, Nitto, aware of the ’679 Patent, encourages the 

infringing use of its flexures by third parties, such as Seagate Technology LLC, by marketing its 

flexures for an infringing use, instructing its customers on how to use its products, and negotiating 

sales contracts covers its infringing products.  

181. Nitto has and continues to contribute to third parties’ direct infringement of the 

‘385 Patent, literally or under the doctrine of equivalents, including at least claim 1. Such 

infringing activities violate 35 U.S.C. § 271(c). 

182. Nitto has and continues to offer to sell and/or sell flexures knowing the same to be 

especially made or especially adapted for use in an infringement of the ‘679 Patent, and not a staple 

article or commodity of commerce suitable for substantial non-infringing use. 

183. Nitto flexures constitute a component of a patented machine, manufacture, 

combination or composition, or a material or apparatus for use in practicing a patented process, 

constituting a material part of the invention (namely, a head suspension for a HDD), with respect 

to at least claim 1 of the ‘679 Patent. 

184. In early 2017, HTI purchased HDDs manufactured by Seagate Technology LLC 

available for sale in the United States containing a suspension assembly incorporating a Nitto 

flexure, such as the HDD shown in Exhibit K at 19-20, comprising all of the elements and 

limitations of one or more claims of the ‘679 Patent. 
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185. HTI is entitled to recover damages as a result of Nitto’s infringing conduct, 

including lost profits and in no event less than a reasonable royalty, together with interest and costs 

as fixed by this Court pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 284.  HTI is also entitled to treble damages and 

recovery of attorneys’ fees as a result of Nitto’s willful infringement of the ‘679 Patent. 

186. Upon information and belief, Nitto will continue its infringement of one or more 

claims of the ‘679 Patent unless enjoined by the Court.  Nitto’s infringing conduct thus causes HTI 

irreparable harm and will continue to cause such harm without the issuance of an injunction. 

 
COUNT TEN 

NITTO’S INFRINGEMENT OF THE ‘866 PATENT 

187. HTI repeats and realleges the allegations of Paragraphs 1-186 above as if fully set 

forth herein. 

188. On December 23, 2008, U.S. Patent No. 7,468,866 (“the ‘866 Patent”), was duly 

and legally issued.  The ‘866 Patent is titled “Flexible Printed Circuit For head Gimbal Assembly” 

and discloses a head gimbal assembly including a slider, a suspension to support the slider, and a 

flexible printed circuit provided to the suspension.  See Exhibit J. 

189. Upon information and belief, Nitto has manufactured, made, marketed, sold, 

imported, and/or used flexures comprising all of the elements and limitations of one or more claims 

of the ‘866 Patent.  Nitto has directly infringed one or more claims of the ‘866 Patent and/or has 

induced the infringement of or contributed to the infringement of one or more claims of the ‘866 

Patent by others. 

190. Nitto has infringed and currently directly infringes the ‘866 Patent, literally or under 

the doctrine of equivalents, including at least claim 1. Upon information and belief, Nitto’s 

infringing activities in the United States include importing, using, selling, and/or offering to sell 
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flexures without permission or license from HTI. Such infringing activities violate 35 U.S.C. § 

271(a). 

191. On information and belief, Nitto has been aware of or willfully blind to (i) the 

existence of the ‘866 Patent, and (ii) the manner of Nitto’s infringement thereof through 

prosecution of its own patents.  For example, in August 2012, the ‘866 Patent was cited as prior 

art by the USPTO during prosecution of U.S. Patent No. 8,570,687, which was assigned to Nitto 

in May 2012.  In September 2012, Nitto cited the ‘866 Patent in an Information Disclosure 

Statement during prosecution of U.S. Patent Publication No. 2010/0046351.  Additionally, in April 

2014, Nitto cited the ‘866 Patent in an Information Disclosure Statement during prosecution of 

U.S. Patent No. 9,159,343.   

192. On information and belief, Nitto’s infringement of the ‘866 Patent is willful and 

deliberate in view of (i) Nitto’s prior knowledge of the ‘866 Patent; and (ii) despite that knowledge, 

Nitto has and continues to import, make, use, sell, and/or offer to sell flexures that infringe the 

‘866 Patent. 

193. Nitto has and continues to actively induce third parties to directly infringe the ‘866 

Patent, literally or under the doctrine of equivalents, including at least claim 1.  Such infringing 

activities violate 35 U.S.C. § 271(b). 

194. Upon information and belief, Nitto, aware of the ’866 Patent, encourages the 

infringing use of its flexures by third parties, such as Toshiba, by marketing its flexures for an 

infringing use, instructing its customers on how to use its products, and negotiating sales contracts 

covers its infringing products.  
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195. Nitto has and continues to contribute to third parties’ direct infringement of the 

‘866 Patent, literally or under the doctrine of equivalents, including at least claim 1.  Such 

infringing activities violate 35 U.S.C. § 271(c). 

196. Nitto has and continues to offer to sell and/or sell flexures knowing the same to be 

especially made or especially adapted for use in an infringement of the ‘866 Patent, and not a staple 

article or commodity of commerce suitable for substantial non-infringing use. 

197. Nitto flexures constitute a component of a patented machine, manufacture, 

combination or composition, or a material or apparatus for use in practicing a patented process, 

constituting a material part of the invention (namely, a wireless disk drive suspension for a HDD), 

with respect to at least claim 1 of the ‘866 Patent. 

198. In early 2017, HTI purchased HDDs manufactured by Toshiba available for sale in 

the United States containing a suspension assembly incorporating a Nitto flexure, such as the HDD 

shown in Exhibit K at 21-22, comprising all of the elements and limitations of one or more claims 

of the ‘866 Patent. 

199. HTI is entitled to recover damages as a result of Nitto’s infringing conduct, 

including lost profits and in no event less than a reasonable royalty, together with interest and costs 

as fixed by this Court pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 284.  HTI is also entitled to treble damages and 

recovery of attorneys’ fees as a result of Nitto’s willful infringement of the ‘866 Patent. 

200. Upon information and belief, Nitto will continue its infringement of one or more 

claims of the ‘866 Patent unless enjoined by the Court.  Nitto’s infringing conduct thus causes HTI 

irreparable harm and will continue to cause such harm without the issuance of an injunction. 
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PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, HTI respectfully requests that this Court: 

A. Enter judgment that Nitto has infringed one or more claims of the ‘385 Patent, the 

‘499 Patent, the ‘807 Patent, the ‘758 Patent, the ‘746 Patent, ‘750 Patent, the ‘438 Patent, the ‘183 

Patent, the ‘679 Patent, and the ‘866 Patent in violation of the United States Code, including, 

without limitation, 35 U.S.C. § 271; 

B. Enter an order enjoining Nitto, its officers, agents, servants, representatives, and 

employees, and all persons acting in concert with them, and each of them, from infringing, 

inducing the infringement of, and contributing to the infringement of the ‘385 Patent, the ‘499 

Patent, the ‘807 Patent, the ‘758 Patent, the ‘746 Patent, ‘750 Patent, the ‘438 Patent, the ‘183 

Patent, the ‘679 Patent, and the ‘866 Patent; 

C. Award HTI damages and/or a reasonable royalty for Nitto’s infringement, 

inducement of infringement, and/or contributory infringement of the ‘385 Patent, the ‘499 Patent, 

the ‘807 Patent, the ‘758 Patent, the ‘746 Patent, ‘750 Patent, the ‘438 Patent, the ‘183 Patent, the 

‘679 Patent, and the ‘866 Patent, together with pre-judgment and post-judgment interest and costs, 

pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 284; 

D. Increase damages awarded to HTI in this case to three times the damages amount 

found by the jury or assessed by the Court pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 284; 

E. Perform an accounting of Nitto’s infringing activities through trial and judgment; 

F. Declare this case to be an exceptional case under 35 U.S.C. § 285 and awarding 

HTI its attorneys’ fees and costs; and 

G. Award HTI such other and further relief as this Court deems just and proper.  
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DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

Pursuant to Rule 38(b) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, HTI respectfully requests 

a trial by jury of any and all issues on which a trial by jury is available under applicable law. 

 
 
Date: June 12, 2017  Respectfully submitted,  
  
 ROBINS KAPLAN LLP 
  
 By: s/ Cyrus A. Morton  

Cyrus A. Morton (0287325) 
Anthony F. Schlehuber (0397673) 
800 LaSalle Avenue 
Suite 2800 
Minneapolis, MN 55402 
Tel: 612-349-8500 
Fax: 612-339-4181 
cmorton@robinskaplan.com 
aschlehuber@robinskaplan.com 

  
  
 NIXON PEABODY LLP 

 
Daniel J. Burnham (pro hac to be submitted) 
Angelo J. Christopher (pro hac to be 
submitted) 
70 West Madison, Suite 3500 
Chicago, IL 60602-4224 
Tel: 312-977-4400 
dburnham@nixonpeabody.com 
achristopher@nixonpeabody.com 
 
Ronald F. Lopez (pro hac to be submitted) 
Jennifer Hayes (pro hac to be submitted) 
One Embarcadero Center, 18th Floor 
San Francisco, CA 94111-3600 
Tel: 415-984-8200 
rlopez@nixonpeabody.com 
jhayes@nixonpeabody.com 
 
- and -  
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Abigail T. Reardon (pro hac to be 
submitted) 
437 Madison Avenue 
New York, NY 10022-7039 
Tel:  212-940-3000 
areardon@nixonpeabody.com 
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